Dr. 1741-8

**ORNL/TM-8659** 

# oml

27,83 me ()

J-11055

OAK RIDGE NATIONAL LABORATORY



OPERATED BY UNION CARBIDE CORPORATION FOR THE UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF ENERGY Fourier-Motzkin Elimination for Mixed Systems

G. E. Liepins

DO NOT MICROFILM THIS PAGE



DISTRIBUTION OF THIS DOCUMENT IS UNLIMITED

#### DISCLAIMER

This report was prepared as an account of work sponsored by an agency of the United States Government. Neither the United States Government nor any agency Thereof, nor any of their employees, makes any warranty, express or implied, or assumes any legal liability or responsibility for the accuracy, completeness, or usefulness of any information, apparatus, product, or process disclosed, or represents that its use would not infringe privately owned rights. Reference herein to any specific commercial product, process, or service by trade name, trademark, manufacturer, or otherwise does not necessarily constitute or imply its endorsement, recommendation, or favoring by the United States Government or any agency thereof. The views and opinions of authors expressed herein do not necessarily state or reflect those of the United States Government or any agency thereof.

## DISCLAIMER

Portions of this document may be illegible in electronic image products. Images are produced from the best available original document.

DO NOT MICROFILM

Printed in the United States of America. Available from National Technical Information Service U.S. Department of Commerce 5285 Port Royal Road, Springfield, Virginia 22161 NTIS price codes—Printed Copy: A03; Microfiche A01

This report was prepared as an account of work sponsored by an agency of the United States Government. Neither the United States Government nor any agency thereof, nor any of their employees, makes any warranty, express or implied, or assumes any legal liability or responsibility for the accuracy, completeness, or usefulness of any information, apparatus, product, or process disclosed, or represents that its use would not infringe privately owned rights. Reference herein to any specific commercial product, process, or service by trade name, trademark, manufacturer, or otherwise, does not necessarily constitute or imply its endorsement, recommendation, or favoring by the United States Government or any agency thereof. The views and opinions of authors expressed herein do not necessarily state or reflect those of the United States Government or any agency thereof.

#### DISCLAIMER

This report was prepared as an account of work sponsored by an agency of the United States Government. Neither the United States Government nor any agency thereof, nor any of their employees, makes any warranty, express or implied, or assumes any legal liability or responsibility for the accuracy, completeness, or usefulness of any information, apparatus, product, or process disclosed, or represents that its use would not infringe privately owned rights. Reference herein to any specific commercial product, process, or service by trade name, trademark, manufacturer, or otherwise does not necessarily constitute or imply its endorsement, recommendation, or favoring by the United States Government or any agency thereof. The views and opinions of authors expressed herein do not necessarily state or reflect those of the United States Government or any agency thereof.

#### Energy Division

#### FOURIER-MOTZKIN ELIMINATION FOR MIXED SYSTEMS

G. E. Liepins

ORNL/TM--8659

DE83 017476

Date of Issue - August 1983

Prepared by the OAK RIDGE NATIONAL LABORATORY Oak Ridge, Tennessee 37830 operated by UNION CARBIDE CORPORATION for the Energy Information Administration U.S. DEPARTMENT OF ENERGY under Contract No. W-7405-eng-26

MASIER

DISTRIBUTION OF THIS DOCUMENT IS UNLIMITED

ORNL/TM-8659

# THIS PAGE WAS INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK

### CONTENTS

Abstract	v
Introduction	1
Equivalence of Mixed Partial Ordering and Mixed Systems	3
Fourier-Motzkin Elimination	4
Modifications to Fourier-Motzkin Elimination	6
Extension to Quadratic Partial Ordering	10
Connections Between Quadratic Partial Ordering and MWFI	14
Fourier-Motzkin Elimination as a Solution Technique for MWFI	14
Fourier-Motzkin Solution to MWFI	15
Conclusions	19
References	19
Appendix	21

#### ABSTRACT

A simple extension of Fourier-Motzkin elimination is made to mixed systems of equations, that is, systems consisting of equalities in conjunction with inequalities and strict inequalities. The principal observation is that inequalities combined with strict inequalities result in strict inequalities.

Two applications are made to automatic data editing. First, a constructive method is provided to test for the existence of a linear objective function for the minimum weighted fields to impute (MWFI) problem with side constraints. If the linear objective function exists, it is determined; if it does not exist, the extension to a quadratic objective function is given. Next, for any fixed linear objective function algorithm based on extended Fourier-Motzkin elimination is given for the resultant MWFI and is illustrated with an example.

It is believed that the applications are significant in their own right: they provide solution techniques to difficult problems in the field of automatic data editing.

#### INTRODUCTION

Mixed systems of equalities in conjunction with inequalities and strict inequalities are not the systems traditionally encountered in mathematical programming: they have not been systematically investigated, and they possess few practical solution procedures (Stoer and Witzgall, 1970). One setting where such systems do arise naturally, however, is in the selection of an objective function to a mathematical programming problem. This type of problem is expected frequently in the error localization stage of automatic data editing (Liepins, Garfinkel, and Kunnathur, 1981). Formally, given an acceptance region (often determined by a system of linear inequalities) and a data record x = $(x_1, \ldots, x_n)$  which lies outside the region, find a linear objective function C() such that any solution to the subsequent minimum weighted fields to impute (MWFI) problem (1)-(3) is consistent with side constraints. (By abuse of language any such function will be called consistent with the side constraints.)

I. MWFI with objective function C(): Let M be an m x n matrix and assume that for the vector y(v),  $My(v) \leq b$ . (In automatic data editing, such a vector  $y^{(0)}$  is said to be inconsistent with the constraints  $My \leq b$ .) Find the index set s which minimizes

$$C(s) = \sum_{i \in S} c_i$$
 (1)

subject to

$$M[y(0) + \varepsilon] \leq b , \qquad (2)$$

 $\varepsilon_i \neq 0$  if and only if  $i \in s$ . (3)

II. Consistency with side constraints: Let a partial preference ordering on the collection S of all  $2^{n}$  subsets of the indices 1, ..., n be given in terms of indifference I, preference P, and strict preference SP. Then an objective function C() is consistent with side contraints if and only if whenever  $s_{j}$  and  $s_{k}$  are feasible solutions to (2)-(3), then

if  $s_j I s_k$  then  $C(s_j) = C(s_k)$ , (4)

if 
$$s_j P s_k$$
 then  $C(s_j) \leq C(s_k)$ , (5)

if 
$$s_j SP s_k$$
 then  $C(S_j) < C(s_k)$  . (6)

[Clearly, no linear objective function C() with  $c_i$  nonnegative can be consistent with side constraints if there is a pair of index sets  $s_i$  and  $s_k$  satisfying  $s_k \subset s_i$  and simultaneously  $s_i$  SP  $s_k$ .]

In the setting of automatic data editing, the side constraints are derived from partial information about the error process. For example, given that a data record  $y^{(0)}$  is inconsistent, that is,  $My^{(0)} \leq b$ , it might be known that, on the average, the third component is more likely to be wrong than the first two jointly. In terms of MWFI (1)-(3), this would require that the objective function C() = (c<sub>1</sub>, ..., c<sub>n</sub>) be chosen so that whenever both  $M[y^{(0)} + \varepsilon^{(1)}] \leq b$  and  $M[y^{(0)} + \varepsilon^{(2)}] \leq b$  (where  $\varepsilon^{(1)} \neq 0$  if and only if i = 1 or 2, and  $\varepsilon^{(2)} \neq 0$  if and only if i = 3), then c<sub>3</sub> < c<sub>1</sub> + c<sub>2</sub>.

Rather than solve the problem of determining the most general objective function for a MWFI consistent with side constraints, consider a simpler variant. If it is required that the implications (4)-(6) hold regardless of feasibility of solution, then the side constraints impose mixed partial ordering on the solutions. Thus, the actual problem undertaken is to find all linear objective functions which induce the specified mixed partial ordering.

The solution presented here is a variant of Fourier-Motzkin elimination and is a simple extension of results published by Duffin (1974) and others. The prescribed technique not only addresses the question of consistency but in the affirmative case allows all solutions to be determined and in the negative case allows higher order polynomial objective functions to be investigated. Moreover, what should be observed is that Fourier-Motzkin elimination is a completely general technique applicable to any system regardless of its origin.

EQUIVALENCE OF MIXED PARTIAL ORDERING AND MIXED SYSTEMS

Any mixed partial ordering is equivalent to a mixed system determined by differences of successive terms. For example, the mixed partial ordering (7) is equivalent to the system (8)-(11) formed by successive first differences. (Note, for example, that if  $s_j = \{1\}$  and  $s_k = \{1, 2\}$  then  $s_j$  SP  $s_k$  may be written as  $c_1 < c_1 + c_2$  and similarly for other relations.)

Mixed partial ordering:

$$c_1 < c_1 + c_2 \leq c_3 = c_1 + c_3 < c_2 + c_3$$
 (7)

Mixed system:

 $-c_{2} < 0$ , (8)

 $c_1 + c_2 - c_3 \leq 0$ , (9)

$$-c_1 = 0$$
, (10)

 $c_1 - c_2 < 0$  (11)

It is easy to characterize the matrix of coefficients of a mixed system derived from a mixed partial ordering. This is done in the Appendix.

#### FOURIER-MOTZKIN ELIMINATION

Fourier-Motzkin elimination is described in various sources, for example Kohler (1967), so only the briefest details are presented here. Succinctly, for any system of inequalities,

$$Ax + By > d$$
(12)

with solution set  $\{(x, y)\}$ , Fourier-Motzkin elimination allows the determination of a set Y such that if (x, y) is a solution of equation (12), then  $y \in Y$  and conversely, if  $y \in Y$ , there exists an element x such that the pair (x, y) satisfies (12). From the dual perspective, the solution involves finding all the extremal rays of the convex cone

$$wA = 0, w > 0 .$$
 (13)

[In fact, the dual to the Fourier-Motzkin problem is the Chernikova problem. See either Abadie (1964) or Duffin (1974).]

Given a system of inequalities

the variable  $x_1$  is eliminated as follows: Partition the set of row indices

 $I^{+} = \{i | a_{i1} > 0\},\$  $I^{-} = \{i | a_{i1} < 0\},\$  $I^{0} = \{i | a_{i1} = 0\}.$ 

<u>Case A</u>.  $I^+$  or  $I^-$  or both are empty. Drop the rows not indexed by  $I^0$  and continue with  $x_2$ .

<u>Case B</u>. For every pair (s, t), such that  $s \in I^+$  and  $t \in I^-$ , append the row  $|a_{t1}| \cdot row_s + |a_{s1}| \cdot row_t$ . When all such pairs of rows have been combined, drop the rows indexed by  $I^+$  and  $I^-$  and continue with x<sub>2</sub>.

Several points are worthy of observation:

(a) The processing of the inequalities at stage i can be represented as left multiplication by a matrix  $M_i$  with nonnegative entries. The cumulative processing can be represented as left multiplication by the product of the respective matrices,  $M = M_i M_{i-1} \cdots M_1$ .

(b) At any stage, if a value for y can be determined, a corresponding value for x can be determined by stepwise back substitution.

(c) If at any stage the matrix M of step (a) has two rows r and t satisfying  $m_{r,i} = 0 \Rightarrow m_{t,i} = 0$ , then row r can be dropped from M.

(d) If at any stage a row of the matrix M of (a) has more positive entries than the numbers of variables actively eliminated plus one, then the row can be dropped from M.

The rules regarding the omission of columns of M are more fully developed in Duffin (1974) as well as in expositions of the Chernikova algorithm. See, for example, Rubin (1977) or Liepins (1983).

#### MODIFICATIONS TO FOURIER-MOTZKIN ELIMINATION

Fourier-Motzkin elimination can be modified to solve mixed systems with or without nonnegativity constraints. The solution proceeds by eliminating one variable at a time until only one variable is left, in which case feasibility can be determined by inspection. If feasible, solutions can be constructed by backward substitution into the previous mixed systems.

The problem addressed is to determine the feasibility and solve a mixed system (15), with perhaps the additional constraints of non-negativity (16).

$$\begin{vmatrix} A_1 & < & b_1 \\ A_2 & x & \leq & b_2 \\ A_3 & = & b_3 \\ x \ge 0 \\ \end{pmatrix},$$
(15)  
(16)

Any such inhomogeneous problem can be transformed into a homogeneous problem by the enlargement of the original matrix by inclusion of the negative of the constant vector as the last column, as in (17)

$$\begin{vmatrix} A_{1} - b_{1} & < & 0 \\ A_{2} - b_{2} & | x & \leq & 0 \\ A_{3} - b_{3} & = & 0 & , \xi \ge 0 , x \ge 0. \end{aligned}$$
(17)

Any solution of (17) with  $\xi = 1$  is a solution of (15). Hence, only the homogeneous case will be dealt with and will be called the restricted (unrestricted) problem if nonnegativity constraints are imposed

(variables unconstrained). The initial step of the homogeneous restricted problem requires that the negative identity be appended to the mixed system, to result in the mixed system (18).

$$\begin{vmatrix} A_1 & < & 0 \\ A_2 & \times & \leq & 0 \\ A_3 & = & 0 \\ -I & \leq & 0 \end{vmatrix}$$
(18)

<u>Step 1</u>. Solve the system  $A_3x = 0$  by Gaussian elimination. If no solution exists, the original system is infeasible. Otherwise substitute into the remaining equations.

<u>Step 2</u>. Save the Gaussian reduced form of  $A_3$ , and remove it from the mixed system.

<u>Step 3</u>. Continue processing the remaining columns according to Fourier-Motzkin elimination, with the modification that any inequality combined with a strict inequality yields a strict inequality.

Proof: Straightforward.

#### Example 1

Mixed partial ordering

 $c_1 < c_2 \leq c_3 < c_2 + c_4 \leq c_3 + c_5 = c_1 + c_2, c_i \geq 0 .$  (19) Mixed system

$$c_1 - c_2 < 0$$
,  
 $c_2 - c_3 \leq 0$ ,  
 $c_2 + c_3 - c_4 < 0$ ,

$$c_2 - c_3 + c_4 - c_5 \le 0$$
,  
 $-c_1 - c_2 + c_3 + c_5 = 0$ ,  $c_1 \ge 0$ .

Gaussian elimination:  $c_1 = -c_2 + c_3 + c_5$ .

:

row		Al						A <sub>2</sub>				A3			Aq	*	_
1	-2	1	0	1	<	(1,2)	-1	0	1	<	(3)	-1	0	<	(2)	-1	<
2	1	-1	0	0	<u>&lt;</u>	(1,4)	-1	2	-1	<	(4)	0	-1	<	(4)	-1	<u> &lt;</u> **
3	-1	1	-1	0	<	(2,3)	0	-1	0	<	(8)	-1	0	<u>&lt;</u> **	ł		
4	1	-1	1	-1	<u>&lt;</u>	(3,4)	0	0	-1	<	(9)	0	-1	<u>≺*</u> *	ł		
5	-1	0	0	0	<u>&lt;</u>	(2,5)	-1	0	<sup>.</sup> 0	<u>`</u> _*	* •						
6	0	-1	0	0	<u>ک</u>	(4,5)	-1	1	-1	<u> </u>		,					
7	0	0	-1	0	<u>&lt;</u>	(6)	-1	<b>0</b>	0	<u>&lt;</u>			÷				
8	0	0	0	-1	<u>&lt;</u>	(7)	0	-1	0	<u></u>	*						
9						(8)	Ō	0	-1	<u>&lt;</u> *	*						

Backward substitution: Use A4 and choose c5, say c5 = 1. Use A3 and choose c4, say c4 = 1. Use rows 1, 2, 6, and 7 of A2 with c4 = c5 = 1 to choose c3:

 $\begin{array}{c} -c_{3} < -1 \\ -c_{3} < -2 + 1 \\ =c_{3} \leq -1 + 1 \\ -c_{3} \leq 0 \end{array} \end{array} \right\}$  Say  $c_{3} = 3$ .

\*The inequalities and strict inequalities indicate which of the relations is to hold for the row in question. The numbers in parentheses preceding rows of the respective matrices indicate which rows of the previous matrix were combined.

\*\*Redundant constraints. May be dropped from further processing.

Use rows 1-5 of  $A_1$  with  $c_3 = 3$ ,  $c_4 = c_5 = 1$  to choose  $c_2$ :

If the original mixed partial ordering had  $c_1 + c_2 < c_4 + c_5$  (20) appended to it, the matrices  $A_1-A_4$  would have the following additional rows  $\widetilde{A}_1-\widetilde{A}_4$  (respectively) appended to them.

$\widetilde{A}_1$		Ã <sub>2</sub>	Ã <sub>3</sub>	Ã <sub>4</sub>			
0 1 -1	0 < (9) 1	-1 0 < (1,10	) -1 1	< (1,6) -1 <			
		(2,10	) 1 -1	< (3,6) -1 <			
		(5,10	) -1 0	< (5,6) 0 <			
		(6,10	0) 0 -1	< (7,6) -1 <			
		(7,10	) -1 0	< (9,6) -1 <			
			)	(8) -1 <			

It is already clear from the first two rows of  $\widetilde{A}_3$  that no solution exists for this enlarged system.

The process can be summarized by

 $M_{123} \begin{vmatrix} A_1 \\ B_1 \\ A_1 \end{vmatrix} = \begin{vmatrix} 0 & A_4 \\ B_1 \\ 0 & \widetilde{A}_4 \end{vmatrix},$ 

	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	row	
			1	1						1	
								1	,	2	
M <sub>123</sub> =	1	1	1	2					1	3	
	1			2			1		1	4	
	2	2	٩	2	•				2	5	(21)
	1	1 ′		2 ·	1				2	6	
	1			2		1			2	· 7	
				1	1				1	8	

where  $M_{123}$  is the 8 x 9 matrix below in (21), for which missing entries are all "0."

It should be noted that only the extremal rows of the matrix M are necessary to determine the feasibility of the mixed system. Nonextremal rows can be identified by (c) and (d) parts of Case B following the Fourier-Motzkin algorithm (see p. 5). Hence, rows 3 and 6 can be dropped from the matrix  $M_{123}$  without affecting the solution or feasibility of the system.

:

#### EXTENSION TO QUADRATIC PARTIAL ORDERING

In this section, x will be an m-dimensional binary vector, that is, a vector such that  $x^t = (x_1, \ldots, x_m)$  with  $x_i = 0$  or 1 for each i, i = 1, ..., m, and R will be a preference ordering, either "<", " $\leq$ ", or "=". Specifically, given a sequence of binary vectors  $x^{(i)}$ , i = 1, ..., n; and preference orderings  $R_i$ , i = 1, ..., n - 1; the linear partial ordering problem can be viewed as finding a fixed (nonnegative) m-dimensional vector c which satisfies  $c^{t_x(i)} R_i c^{t_x(i+1)}$  for i = 1, ..., n - 1.

A quadratic partial ordering problem can be defined similarly: Find a symmetric matrix C such that  $x(i)^{t}Cx(i) R_{i} x(i+1)^{t}Cx^{i+1}$ . Now let  $s_{i} = \{j | x(i)_{j} = 1\}$ . In the linear case, necessary and sufficient conditions for  $s_{i} \subset s_{j} \Rightarrow c^{t}x(i) \leq c^{t}x(j)$  are that the vector c be nonnegative. For the quadratic case, the necessary and sufficient conditions for  $s_{i} \subset s_{j} \Rightarrow x(i)^{t}Cx(i) \leq x(j)^{t}Cx(j)$  are somewhat more elaborate and are stated in (22) below: For s any subset of the indices 1, ..., m, and  $i \in s$ ,

$$c_{ii} + \sum_{\substack{j \in S \\ i \neq i}} (c_{ij} + c_{ji}) \ge 0 .$$
(22)

Clearly, sufficient conditions are that all the  $c_{ij} \ge 0$ .

#### Example 2

Although conditions (22) could be incorporated into a Fourier-Motzkin tableau, for purposes of this example, the partial quadratic ordering problem suggested by the partial linear ordering (19) and (20) will be considered with the additional constraints that  $c_{ij} \geq 0$ . Note that the required partial quadratic ordering can be represented as (23).

$$c_{1} < c_{2} \leq c_{3} < c_{2} + c_{24} + c_{4} \leq c_{3} + c_{35} + c_{5} = c_{1} + c_{12} + c_{2} < c_{4} + c_{45} - c_{5}, \qquad (23)$$
  
$$c_{1j} \geq 0, c_{i} \geq 0.$$

Moreover, to illustrate how the solution procedure can be relatively easily updated when no equalities are present and the degree of the partial ordering is increased (in this case, from linear to quadratic), consider the additional constaints  $c_{35} = c_{12} = 0$ . The addition of these variables and constraints leads to the initial system represented by the matrix  $\tilde{A}_1$ , given in (24).

row	c2	сз	c4	с <sub>5</sub>	c24	c45		
1	-2	1		1			<	
2	1	-1					<u>&lt;</u>	
3	-1	1	-1		-1		<	
4	1	-1	1	-1	1		<u>&lt;</u>	(24)
5	-1						<u>&lt;</u>	
6 Â <sub>1=</sub>		-1					<u>&lt;</u>	
7			-1				<u>&lt;</u>	
8				-1			<u>&lt;</u>	
9		1	-1			-1	<	
10					-1		<u>&lt;</u>	Nonnegativity of
11						-1	<u>`</u>	$c_{24}$ and $c_{25}$
	1							•

Rather than process  $\tilde{A}_1$  anew, the matrix  $M_{123}$  given in (21) can be used. Drop nonextremal rows 3 and 6 and augment the matrix with two columns of zeros (columns 10 and 11) and two rows which are zero except in columns 10 and 11 where they form the 2 x 2 identity matrix (rows 9 and 10). Call this matrix  $\tilde{M}_{123}$ . Then  $\tilde{A}_4 = \tilde{M}_{123}\tilde{A}_1$  represents the new system with the first three columns processed. This processing can be more

easily affected. Rewrite 
$$\begin{vmatrix} A_4 \\ \widetilde{A}_4 \\ 0 \\ 0 \end{vmatrix}$$
 with the third and sixth entries omitted

as the first column of  $\tilde{A}_4$  and append the product of  $\tilde{M}_{123}$  with the last two columns of  $\tilde{A}_1$ . The result  $\tilde{A}_4$  for this example is given in (25).

	-1	0	0	<			
	-1	0	0	<u>&lt;</u>			
	-1	2	-1	<			
₹ <sub>4</sub> =	0	2	-2	<			
	-1	2	-2	<		(2	5)
	-1	1	-1	<ul> <li></li> <li></li> </ul>			
	0	-1	0	· <u>&lt;</u>			
	0	0	-1	<u>&lt;</u>			
			· ·				

A solution to the quadratic partial ordering can be seen to exist: say  $c_{24} = 0$  and  $c_{45} = 3$ ,  $c_5 = 1$ ,  $c_4 = 1$ ,  $c_3 = 3$ ,  $c_2 = 3$ , and  $c_1 = 1$ . Check:  $1 < 3 \leq 3 < 4 \leq 4 = 4 < 5$ . (To formally backsubstitute to a solution, the tableaux  $\tilde{A}_1$ - $\tilde{A}_6$  are required. However,  $\tilde{A}_2$  and  $\tilde{A}_3$  can be generated with use of  $M_{12}$  much as  $A_4$  was generated.) In terms of the quadratic partial ordering, a required symmetric matrix becomes (26), for which missing entires are all "0."

1

3/2

3/2

1

1 C = 3

(26)

13

#### CONNECTIONS BETWEEN QUADRATIC PARTIAL ORDERING AND MWFI

It is clear that the determination of a symmetric matrix consistent with side constraints to a quadratic MWFI problem (27)-(30) leads to a quadratic partial ordering problem.

Let M be an m x n matrix and assume that for the vector  $y^{(0)}$ , My(0)  $\leq b$ .

Find the Index set s which minimizes

$$\delta(\varepsilon)^{\mathsf{t}} \mathsf{C} \delta(\varepsilon) \tag{27}$$

subject to

$$M[y^{(0)} + \varepsilon] \leq b , \qquad (28)$$

$$\delta(\varepsilon)^{L} = [\delta(\varepsilon_{i}), \ldots, \delta(\varepsilon_{n})], \qquad (29a)$$

$$\delta(\varepsilon_{i}) = 1 \langle = \rangle \varepsilon_{i} \neq 0 , \qquad (29b)$$

$$\delta(\varepsilon_{i}) = 0 \iff \varepsilon_{i} = 0 . \qquad (29c)$$

 $\varepsilon_i \neq 0 \quad \langle = \rangle \quad i \in s. \tag{30}$ 

#### FOURIER-MOTZKIN ELIMINATION AS A SOLUTION TECHNIQUE FOR MWFI

Given a MWFI with fixed objective function C( ), Fourier-Motzkin elimination can be substantially used to determine the solution. Moreover, it is expected that this approach is highly competitive with other solution algorithms.\*

<sup>\*</sup>The original version of this algorithm uses linear programming to test for feasibility of solutions. At present, it is unknown how the two variants compare, although there is a potential for generation of excessively many columns in Fourier-Motzkin elimination [see Kohler (1967) and Matheiss and Rubin (1980)].

Recall the MWFI problem: Let M be an m x n matrix, b a fixed ndimensional vector, and  $y^{(0)}$  a vector satisfying  $My^{(0)} \not\leq b$ . Find the index set s which minimizes

$$\sum_{i \in s}^{\sum c_i} c_i$$
 (1)

subject to

$$M[y(0) + \varepsilon] < b , \qquad (2)$$

 $\varepsilon_i \neq 0$  if and only if  $i \in s$ . (3)

#### FOURIER-MOTZKIN SOLUTION TO MWFI\*

- 1. Let I index the equations for which  $[My(o)]_i > b_i$  for  $i \in I$ . Let the cardinality |I| of I equal k. Construct the k x n binary
- failed edit matrix A according to  $a_{ij} = 1 \iff m_{ij} \neq 0$ ,  $a_{ij} = 0 \iff m_{ij} = 0$  (for  $i \in I$ ).
- 2. Find an optimal solution  $w^*$  to the set covering problem that minimizes cw, subject to  $Aw \ge 1$ , w binary. Let s be the set of indices  $\{i \mid w_i^* \neq 0\}$ . Denote the cardinality of s by  $\ell$ .
- 3. Let  $M_S$  be the m x  $\ell$  submatrix of M determined by the columns of M indexed by s in step 2 above. Solve

$$x^{t}M_{s} = 0$$
, (31)  
 $x^{t}\Gamma_{b}-M_{v}(0) ] < 0$ . (32)

 $x \ge 0$  . (33)

<sup>\*</sup>This algorithm is substantially motivated by an unpublished algorithm due to A. S. Kunnathur. A formal proof of the algorithms along with test results will appear in another paper. It should be noted that in this use, Fourier-Motzkin elimination involves rows rather than columns.

- 4. If no solution to (31)-(33) exists, then the set s identified in step 2 is the required solution to MWFI (1)-(3). Otherwise, let  $x^*$  be a solution and go to step 5.
- 5. Form x<sup>\*t</sup>M and x<sup>\*t</sup>b and append these as the last row and component to the matrix M and vector b, respectively. Return to step 1.
  - Example 3

#### Let

 $y^{(0)t} = (1, 2, 1, 0, 1), b^{t} = (5, 4, 0), c^{t} = (1, 1, 1, 1, 1), (34)$ and let

$$M = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 3 & -3 & 1 & 2 \\ -2 & 1 & 1 & 0 & 3 \\ 1 & -2 & 1 & 2 & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Thus

$$[b - My^{(0)}]^{t} = (-1, 0, 2) .$$
 (35)

- 1.  $y^{0}$  fails the first constraint:  $1 \cdot 1 + 3 \cdot 2 3 \cdot 1 + 1 \cdot 0 + 1 \cdot 1 = 6 > 5.$
- 2. The failed edit matrix A is (1 1 1 1 1), and a prime cover to Aw  $\geq$  1 is  $w_1^* = 1$ ,  $w_i^* = 0$  for  $i \neq 1$ .
- 3.  $M_s = \begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ -2 \\ 1 \end{pmatrix}$  and the system to be solved becomes (36)

$$\begin{pmatrix} x_1, x_2, x_3 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} -2 & 0 & 0 & -1 & 0 \\ -2 & 0 & 0 & -1 & 0 \\ 1 & 2 & 0 & 0 & -1 \\ & & & \wedge & & \wedge & \wedge \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (37)

Gaussian elimination can be done within the matrix format<sup>\*</sup> to result in the matrix

Fourier-Motzkin elimination of the variable x<sub>2</sub> yields

$$\left(\begin{array}{c}
0\\
0\\
-1\\
\land I
\end{array}\right).$$
(39)

4-5. A solution  $x^{*t}$  is (2, 1, 0); consequently, the row (0 7 -5 2 7) is appended to M, the constant 14 is appended to b, and the corresponding entry of the extended vector b - My<sup>(0)</sup> is (2, 1, 0) • (-1, 0, 2) = -2.

- 2. The failed edit matrix A is  $\begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 0 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 0 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$  and a prime cover is  $w_3^* = 1$ ,  $w_1^* = 0$  for  $i \neq 3$ .
- 3.  $M_{s} = \begin{pmatrix} -3 \\ 1 \\ 1 \\ -5 \end{pmatrix}$  and the system to be solved becomes (40)

$$(x_{1}, x_{2}, x_{3}, x_{4}) \begin{pmatrix} -3 & -1 & -1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & 0 & -1 & 0 & 0 \\ 1 & 2 & 0 & 0 & -1 & 0 \\ -5 & -2 & 0 & 0 & 0 & -1 \\ " & \wedge & \wedge ! & \wedge ! & \wedge ! & \wedge ! \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$
(41)

\*Without a loss of generality, assume that the first column of the matrix M corresponds to an equality, and that  $m_{k1} \neq 0$ . Then Gaussian elimination of  $x_k$  is accomplished by the replacement of  $m_{ij}$  by  $m_{ij} = \frac{m_{i1}}{m_{k1}}$  m<sub>kj</sub> for j > 1.

Gaussian elimination of the variable  $x_2$ , and subsequent elimination of the variable  $x_1$ , results in the system

$$\begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \\ -1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \\ \wedge I & \wedge I \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (42)

4-5. A solution  $x^{*t}$  is (1, 3, 0, 0) and consequently the row (-5 6 0 1 11) is appended to M and the constant 17 is appended to b.

2. A prime cover to the failed edit matrix  $A = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 0 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$  is  $w_2^{\star} = 1$ ,  $w_1^{\star} = 0$  for  $i \neq 2$ .

Gaussian elimination of the variable  $x_2$  results in the system

$$\begin{pmatrix} 3 & -1 & -1 & 3 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ -2 & 2 & 0 & -2 & -1 & 0 & 0 \\ 7 & -2 & 0 & 7 & 0 & -1 & 0 \\ 6 & -1 & 0 & 6 & 0 & 0 & -1 \\ " & \wedge & \wedge I & \wedge I & \wedge I & \wedge I \end{pmatrix}$$
(45)

Elimination of the variable  $x_1$  results in the system

· · · ·

$$\begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 4 & -2 & -1 & 0 & 0 \\ 1 & 7 & 0 & -1 & 0 \\ 3 & 6 & 0 & 0 & -1 \\ \wedge & \wedge & \wedge i & \wedge i & \wedge i \end{pmatrix}.$$
(46)

Since the first column is nonnegative, no solution to the system (47) exists, and hence a solution to the MWFI (35)-(36) is  $s = \{2\}$ .

#### CONCLUSIONS

The relationship between the MWFI problem with side constraints and the mixed partial ordering problem has been shown. The coefficient matrix of a mixed system derived from a mixed partial ordering has been characterized. It has been shown how Fourier-Motzkin elimination can be modified to solve mixed systems. Application has been made to the determination of an objective function for MWFI with side constraints. For a fixed linear objective function, a solution algorithm for the resultant MWFI has been presented and illustrated.

#### REFERENCES

Abadie, J. 1964. "The Dual to Fourier's Method for Solving Linear Inequalities," <u>International Symposium on Mathematical Programming</u>, London.

Duffin, R. J. 1974. "On Fourier's Analysis of Linear Inequality Systems," <u>Math. Prog. Study</u> 1, 71-95.

Kohler, D. A. 1967. "Projections of Convex Polyhedral Sets," <u>Doctoral</u> <u>Thesis Operations Research Center, ORC 67-29</u>, University of California, Berkeley.

Liepins, G. E., R. S. Garfinkel, and A. Kunnathur. 1981. "Error Localization for Erroneous Data: a Survey," <u>TIMS Study on</u> <u>Optimization in Statistics</u>.

- Liepins, G. E. 1983. <u>Algorithms for Error Localization of Discrete</u> Data, ORNL/TM-8183 (in preparation).
- Matheiss, T. H., and D. S. Rubin. 1980. "A Survey and Comparison of Methods for Finding All Vertices of Convex Polyhedral Sets," <u>Mathematics of Operations Research</u> 5(2), 167-85.
- Rubin, D. S. 1977. "Vertex Generation Methods for Problems with Logical Constraints," <u>Ann. Discrete Math.</u> 1, 457-66.
- Stoer, J., and C. Witzgall. 1970. <u>Convexity and Optimization in Finite</u> <u>Dimensions: I</u>, Springer Verlag, New York.

· . .

#### APPENDIX

For i = 1, ..., k - 1, let each  $R_i$  be one of the relations I (indifference or equality), P (preference or inequality), or SP (strong preference or strict inequality). Let  $\{s_i\}$  be a distinct collection of the  $2^n - 1$  nonempty subsets of  $\{1, ..., n\}$ . Represent the relations I, P, and SP as follows:

$$s_{j} I s_{k} \langle = \rangle \sum_{i \in s_{j}} c_{i} = \sum_{i \in s_{k}} c_{i},$$

$$s_{j} P s_{k} \langle = \rangle \sum_{i \in s_{j}} c_{i} \leq \sum_{i \in s_{k}} c_{i},$$

$$s_{j} SP s_{j} \langle = \rangle \sum_{i \in s_{j}} c_{i} \langle \sum_{i \in s_{k}} c_{i}.$$

Consider a mixed partial ordering  $s_1R_1s_2$  ...  $R_{k-1}s_k$  satisfying  $s_{j+h} \neq s_j$ . Define the (k - 1) x n matrix of the mixed system derived from the partial ordering by

$$\begin{array}{l} a_{j\,\ell} &= 1 <=> \ \ell \in s_j \ \text{and} \ \ell \notin s_{j+1} \ , \\ a_{j\,\ell} &= -1 <=> \ \ell \notin s_j \ \text{and} \ \ell \in s_{j+1} \ , \\ a_{j\,\ell} &= 0 <=> \ \text{either} \ (\ \ell \in s_j \ \text{and} \ \ \ell \in s_{j+1}) \ \text{or} \\ &\quad (\ \ell \notin s_j \ \text{and} \ \ \ell \notin s_{j+1}) \ . \end{array}$$

(The matrix is determined as the matrix of indicators of first differences of the direct sums

$$\bigoplus \sum_{i \in s_j} c_i - \bigoplus \sum_{i \in s_{j+1}} c_i .)$$

i. All matrix elements are either -1, 0, or 1.

ii. For any column j and any sum of consecutive rows, the sum

$$k+\ell$$
  
 $\sum_{i=k} a_{ij} = -1, 0, \text{ or } 1.$ 

iii. For any consecutive sequence of rows k, ..., k + i, at least one column j exists such that

iv. For any consecutive sequence of rows k, ...,  $k + \ell$  at least one column j exists such that

<u>Proof</u>: The "only if" portion is straightforward. For the "if" portion, set  $V^{(i)} = [\delta_1(s_i), \ldots, \delta_n(s_i)]$  where  $\delta_j(s_i) = 1 \iff j \in s_i$ .

Set  $\Delta(i) = \gamma(i) - \gamma(i+1)$ . It is clear that  $\gamma(j) = -\sum_{i=1}^{j-1} \Delta(i) + \gamma(1)$  and

that the mixed partial ordering can be reconstructed from the mixed system so long as V<sup>(1)</sup> can be reconstructed. Moreover,  $\Delta^{(1)} = [\delta_1(s_1) - \delta_1(s_2), \ldots, \delta_n(s_1) - \delta_n(s_2)]$ . Hence  $\Delta_i^{(1)} = 1 \iff \delta_i(s_1) = 1$  and  $\delta_i(s_2) = 0$ ,  $\Delta_i^{(1)} = -1 \iff \delta_i(s_1) = 0$  and  $\delta_i(s_2) = 1$ ,  $\Delta_i^{(1)} = 0 \iff [\delta_i(s_1) = 1$ and  $\delta_i(s_2) = 1$ ] or  $[\delta_i(s_1) = 0$  and  $\delta_i(s_2) = 0$ ]. So long as there exists some j such that  $\Delta_{j}^{(j)} \neq 0$ , the latter two cases are distinguishable. In the case that  $\Delta_{j}^{(j)} = 0$  for j = 1, ..., k - 1, set  $\delta_{j}(s_{j}) = 1$  for j = 1, ..., k - 1.

#### INTERNAL DISTRIBUTION

G. A. Dailey
 W. Fulkerson
 G. R. Hadder
 M. T. Heath
 R. B. Hofstra
 S. V. Kaye

7-11. G. E. Liepins

 A. S. Loebl
 F. S. Patton, Jr.
 V. R. R. Uppuluri

- 15. T. J. Wilbanks
- 16. D. J. Wilkes
- 17. Central Research Library
- 18. Document Reference Section
- 19-20. Laboratory Records
  - 21. Laboratory Records (RC)
  - 22. ORNL Patent Section
- 23-32. Data Methods Group.
- Data and Analysis Section

#### EXTERNAL DISTRIBUTION

- 33. Jean Abadie, Institut de Programmation, Universite de Paris, VI Place Jussieir, Paris, FRANCE
- 34. Yvonne Bishop, Office of Statistical Standards, Energy Information Administration, U.S. Department of Energy, 1H-023 Forrestal Building, 1000 Independence Avenue, SW, Washington, DC 20585
- 35. Robert Garfinkel, Management Science Department, University of Tennessee, Knoxville, TN 37916
- 36. Brian Greenberg, Statistical Research Division, U.S. Bureau of the Census, Suitland, MD 20023
- 37. Douglas R. Hale, Office of Statistical Standards, Quality Assurance Division, Energy Information Administration, 1H-031 Forrestal Building, 1000 Independence Avenue, SW, Washington, DC 20585
- 38. Anand Kunnathur, School of Business, University of Wisconsin, Milwaukee, MI 53201
- 39. Dr. Todd R. LaPorte, Professor, Political Science, Institute of Government Studies, University of California, 109 Moses Hall, Berkeley, CA 94720.
- 40. J. H. Matheis, College of Business Administration, University of Alabama, Tuscaloosa, AL
- 41. Patrick McKeown, Quantitative Business Analysis Department, University of Georgia, Athens, GA 30602

- 42. Laurence I. Moss, Energy/Environmental Design and Policy Analysis, 5769 Longs Peak Route, Estes Park, CO 80517
- 43. Deborah Panson, Department of Management, East Carolina University, Greenville, NC 27830
- 44. David Rubin, School of Business, University of North Carolina, Chapel Hill, NC 27514
- 45. Dr. Milton Russell, Director, Center for Energy Policy Research, Resources for the Future, 1755 Massachusetts Avenue, N.W., Washington, DC 20036
- 46. Gordon Sande, Business Survey Methods, Statistics Canada, Tunney's Pasture, Ottawa, Ontario, Canada K1A0T6
- 47. Judi Tishman, Office of Planning and Resources, Energy Information Administration, 2H-087 Forrestal Building, 1000 Independence Avenue, SW, Washington, DC 20585

. .

- 48. Dr. William H. Williams, Division Manager, American Bell, Building 83, Room 1B23, 100 Southgate Parkway, Morristown, NJ 07960
- 49-75. Technical Information Center, DOE, P. O. Box 62, Oak Ridge, TN 37830